Recognition and Reuse at Two Industrial Sites

Two industrial complexes recently joined Connecticut’s roster of sites listed on the National Register of Historic Places. Designation marks these places as important in the state’s manufacturing history in the 19th and 20th centuries. It also allows the sites to qualify for preservation incentives that are helping make possible their continued use.

The South Willington Historic District, in Willington, is a good example of a small single-company industrial community. For almost 100 years, the Gardiner Hall, Jr., Company operated here, producing threads for use in clothing, hats, handkerchiefs, embroidery, parachutes, and sutures, and employing hundreds of workers, both locals and immigrants.

Gardiner Hall, Jr., the son and nephew of Willington textile manufacturers, founded the company in 1862. Initially, he bought cotton yarn produced elsewhere, bleached and dyed it, twisted it into thread, and wound it onto spools fabricated on the site.

Like many Connecticut companies, constant improvements to processes and machinery were part of the business model; continued on page 10

New Listings on the National Register of Historic Places

In This Issue:

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Section</th>
<th>Page</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Preservation Conference</td>
<td>5</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Around the State</td>
<td>6</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Historic Properties Exchange</td>
<td>14</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Leo Caproni, Industrial Architect</td>
<td>20</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

The mills of the Gardiner Hall, Jr., Company (shown: the southern half) form the heart of the South Willington National Register district.
Expanding Our Reach, Diversifying Our Resources
The Trust’s New Strategic Plan

You may recall an invitation from the Connecticut Trust to participate in a survey last spring about what we do well, could do better and should be doing. You responded as a group that while you were not aware of the full range of historic preservation programs and activities that the Trust offers, you found those of which you were aware to be valuable and suggested we make them better known. We heard you. Your responses have been taken to heart and have shaped a new strategic plan for the Connecticut Trust approved by the Board of Directors on January 10, 2018. The plan—your plan—aspire to build a stronger, more impactful organization that broadens and inspires new constituencies and partnerships, engaging them through our current programs.

Co-authored by Vice Chair Sara Bronin and Trustee Peter Stockman with input from board committees, staff, advisors, and partners, the new plan is more detailed than those of the past, outlining 22 strategic goals that continue existing programs and services but change the ways we fund, promote, and in some cases, deliver them.

Diversifying our sources of funding in the near term and building an endowment for the future are two of the plan’s priorities. They respond to the realities of evaporating public funding for historic preservation under the Community Investment Act (CIA) triggered by the State budget crisis. Our well-known grant programs, for example, grew and diversified in the past decade with steady financial support from the Community Investment Act (CIA) and The 1772 Foundation. Over the last five years the Trust has been very effective at re-granting these dollars to local communities for basic planning, maintenance and repairs, but CIA funding has become less reliable. The plan recognizes our need to form relationships with new private funding partners to bolster The 1772

Strategic Goals
Make a Big Impact
– Prioritize the Circuit Rider program
– Popularize/maximize tax credit activity
– Deploy the revolving loan fund
– Advocate for policies that matter
– Advocate for places that matter
– Identify/nominate/promote significant places
– Protect special places in perpetuity

Engage and Inspire
– Develop a communications strategy
– Expand grant program
– Renew awards program
– Expand educational outreach
– Expand friend-raising events
– Quantify preservation’s needs and economic impact
– Use the Whitney boarding house to highlight best practices

Strengthen the Organization
– Diversify sources of revenue
– Build an endowment
– Increase membership
– Embrace staff talent
– Initiate an internship program
– Recruit a diverse and active board

continued on page 4
Co-Directors to Guide the Connecticut Trust

Garry Leonard, Chairman of the Board of Trustees, is pleased to announce the appointment of Wes Haynes and Jane Montanaro as Co-Directors of the Connecticut Trust for Historic Preservation. Wes has four decades of experience in historic preservation working for architectural firms and non-profit organizations in New York and New Jersey. He joined the Trust staff in 2013 as Project Director of the Making Places program and will be responsible for external partnerships. Jane has been on the staff of Connecticut Trust since 2005 and Director of Preservation Services since 2014. Jane had served as Interim Director since July and she will continue to be responsible for preservation services and the daily operations of the Trust.

From the Co-Directors

Throughout the winter, the Connecticut Trust remained active around the state and beyond. In January, staff attended a regional gathering of statewide historic preservation organizations from the Northeast. We shared issues and questions, got to know our colleagues from New England, New York, and Pennsylvania, and came away with plenty of new ideas.

Immediately afterward, Renée Tribert and Wes Haynes spoke to the Vernon Historical Society about Making Places, the Trust’s survey and preservation program for historic industrial sites. Their presentation provided a statewide context for the adaptive use projects already completed in many of Vernon’s highly significant collection of mills.

We also received word that the Making Places website, connecticutmills.org, will receive an Award of Merit from the Connecticut League of History Organizations.

Making Places, like many other programs of the Connecticut Trust and the State Historic Preservation Office, is funded through the Community Investment Act (CIA), passed by the General Assembly to provide a reliable, dedicated funding stream.
Foundation’s generosity in Connecticut.

We also learned from you that we have been working perhaps too quietly behind the scenes. The plan aims to make the Trust more widely known, integrate our print and digital media, and amplify our message. Part of this entails developing hard data, such as updating our previous study on historic preservation’s economic impact. It also involves forming new partnerships and broadening our board’s makeup to expand our reach, opening new eyes and ears to the benefits of historic preservation for Connecticut’s social, cultural, economic, and environmental quality of life.

Success with these new strategic goals will underpin our existing programs and secure their future. Circuit Riders will continue to make site visits and remain central to our fieldwork, grants, endangered properties interventions, and local commission training activities. We aim to increase our easement holdings beyond the 31 properties now protected in perpetuity. Our awards will continue to recognize and convey outstanding preservation success stories. We will generate new surveys of historic places that matter and promote their public appreciation and/or re-use. We will persist in advocating for public policies that matter, such as raising the cap on the State historic rehabilitation tax credits. And Connecticut Preservation News will continue to keep you informed of the progress you and your partners are making in the stewardship of historic places around the state. ✨

To read the plan in its entirety, visit us online at www.cttrust.org.

—from the Co-Directors, cont’d from page 3

for historic preservation along with open-space acquisition, affordable housing, and farmland protection. Nonetheless, the State’s ongoing budget problems leave the CIA vulnerable to diversion for general fund activities. On February 13, Trust staff took part in a lobby day for preservation and economic development at the state capitol, sponsored by Connecticut Main Street. We will continue to follow the legislative action through the rest of the session.

In East Hampton, activity continues at our donated property, the Oliver West house, which came to us by way of the National Trust for Historic Preservation. The house will be sold with a preservation easement, and the proceeds invested in the Connecticut Trust Revolving Loan Fund to support preservation projects around the state. In preparation for putting the house on the market, we’re contracting to have the house cleaned and the overgrown plants around it cleared. At the same time, Erin Marchitto is digging into land, tax, and genealogical records to prepare a nomination to the State Register of Historic Places. Watch this space for a formal real estate listing in the spring—but if you know someone who’d be interested in the house now, we’re always ready to talk to them. ✨

—Jane Montanaro and Wes Haynes
Connceticut’s State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) is hosting its second annual statewide conference on May 16, at the Sheraton Hartford South in Rocky Hill. Under the theme of Shared Stewardship, the conference will explore ways communities, governments, and advocates can engage new participants and reinforce partnerships to enhance our state through historic preservation. Connecticut residents, staff of municipal and regional governments, planners, students, and people interested in Connecticut’s cultural heritage are encouraged to attend.

Our keynote speaker will be Carla Bruni, Associate for Engagement at PlaceEconomics, specializing in community outreach and assessing the qualitative contributions of cultural heritage. Ms. Bruni holds an MS in Historic Preservation from the School of the Art Institute of Chicago and a BA in English from Loyola University Chicago. She has published numerous articles, led workshops, and created blogs focused on the changing face of historic preservation, the need for increased diversity across the movement, and the ways in which cultural resources are crucial to our environmental and social well-being.

In addition to the keynote speaker, we have invited three captivating speakers who are not professional historic preservationists but who acknowledge the importance of historic places in their lives.

Dar Williams was dubbed “one of America’s very best singer-songwriters” by the New Yorker. She recently published What I Found in a Thousand Towns, a book about her time touring not in stadiums, but in America’s small towns. The book chronicles her experiences with these communities, how they have struggled and how they have succeeded in the face of postindustrial identity crises. In the book, she reflects on why some towns are able to flourish while others fail and she draws on the successes to offer solutions for rebuilding declining communities. Ms. Williams will share her thoughts and observations while performing excerpts from her place-inspired songs.

A director, writer, performer, and educator, Madeline Sayet, has been recognized by numerous national organizations and is the recipient of The White House Champion of Change Award. Ms. Sayet was raised on traditional Mohegan stories and Shakespeare, and her work as a director uses minimalist magical realism to ask questions about gendering and indigenous perspectives and to reimagine classic plays in ways that give voices to those who have been silenced. Ms. Sayet will share with us the power of the oral tradition of storytelling and the importance of communities’ telling their own authentic stories.

Titus Kaphar is an American painter with work in the collections of Museum of Modern Art, Yale University Art Gallery, New Britain Museum of American Art, Seattle Art Museum, and Virginia Museum of Fine Arts. His work interacts with the history of art by appropriating its styles and mediums. Mr. Kaphar cuts, bends, sculpts, and mixes the work of Classical and Renaissance painters, creating formal games and new tales between fiction and quotation. He currently is establishing an artistic community in New Haven called PostMasters. Located in a former manufacturing plant in the Dixwell neighborhood, PostMasters seeks to revitalize the city’s historic jazz center and bring it closer to its creative roots. Building a new building would have been easier than rehabilitating an old one, but Mr. Kaphar recognized the importance of this structure as a foundation of the neighborhood.

These four are just the beginning! Please join us in 2018!

For more information, please contact Jenny Scofield (jenny.scofield@ct.gov).
Bridgeport. ▶
The former People’s Bank building (1917; NR) reopened in January as Harlan Haus, billed as “a German-style beer and würst hall.” The grand marble building at the corner of Main and State streets originally housed Bridgeport Savings Bank, which merged with People’s Savings Bank in 1927. People’s Bank moved out in the 1960s and the building has been a restaurant since 1994. The building is one of several properties, clustered around McLevy Green, that are being redeveloped by Forstone Capital of Darien, in this case in partnership with chef Stephen Lewandoski.

Middletown. ▼
Wesleyan University is planning to reuse two historic houses in an expansion of its Film Studies building. The Power-Sage house (1783; pictured) and John Wetmore house (1830-50) houses are both located in the Washington Street National Register district. The university initially proposed demolishing both, but after consultation with the State Historic Preservation Office, the Connecticut Trust, and local officials and preservationists revised its plans to incorporate the buildings.

New Canaan. ▼
Land conservation and historical organizations are working together to preserve the Grupe-Nichols-Browne house (c.1805 and later), a well-known local landmark. The current owner, the Norwalk First Taxing District, tried unsuccessfully to sell the property and in February filed for a demolition permit. If the groups can agree with the District on a price, the house could be used as offices for the New Canaan Land Trust or be re-sold with preservation and conservation easements.
Meriden.
St. Laurent Church (1880-1888) is one of at least five Catholic churches up for sale, after the Archdiocese of Hartford announced a plan to reduce the number of parishes in the diocese from 212 to 127 in response to shrinking membership. Under the plan, 26 churches will be closed, meaning that masses would not be regularly celebrated in them; however, parishes may decide whether to retain buildings for other uses or sell them. In addition to St. Laurent, St. Mary’s in Meriden is also for sale, as well as churches in East Hartford, Hartford, and Waterbury. Others may follow. John Bergin, a broker with Pearce Commercial Real Estate who is handling the Meriden listings, told the Hartford Courant that non-Catholic religious groups are expected to buy many of the properties. The archdiocese has required that church buildings not be used as restaurants or bars. Once an offer is made for a church, the building will be deconsecrated and sacred articles are removed; larger items such as altars are often sold or donated to other Catholic churches.

New London.
Testimony began January 30 and continued February 14 and 15 at New London Superior Court in a lawsuit to prevent the unreasonable demolition of 116 and 130 Bank Street (c.1788 and c.1828; NR), which developer WMC Realty, LLC wants to demolish to construct a new building. The lawsuit, filed by the Attorney General on behalf of the Department of Economic and Community Development, State Historic Preservation Office under the Connecticut Environmental Protection Act, seeks a temporary injunction against razing the buildings. The Connecticut Trust is participating as a separate party. The National Trust for Historic Preservation is coordinating amici curiae or "friends of the court" representation for New London Landmarks, New London Maritime Society-Custom House Museum and New London Main Street. Testimony will continue in late March.

continued on page 8
Redding. ▶

The Department of Energy and Environmental Protection (DEEP) is proposing to remove a dam in Putnam Memorial State Park (NR). Known as “Connecticut’s Valley Forge,” the site served as winter headquarters for American forces during the Revolutionary War and became Connecticut’s first state park in 1887. DEEP’s scoping notice states that the dam is in disrepair and that removing it would reduce maintenance costs and restore the natural stream flow. However, the dam is clearly an historic landscape feature: the pond that it creates is visible in an aerial photograph taken in 1934. Preliminary research suggests that the dam was first built during the initial phase of park landscaping undertaken in 1889. While preserving it may not be possible for the cash-strapped DEEP, a more thorough study of the park’s historic landscape is needed and might be an appropriate mitigation measure.
Waterford.

On January 9 the Department of Energy and Environmental Protection announced its preferred plans for Seaside state park, the former Seaside sanatorium (1931; NR). The decision identifies the Destination Park concept as the agency’s Preferred Alternative for developing the park. The Destination Park involves retaining all the historic buildings on the site and seeking a public-private partnership to restore and operate them as a lodge. (Some landscape elements included in the design were eliminated in the decision.) However, the report also notes that if an appropriate partner cannot be found, the agency will have to remove the historic buildings. DEEP is currently putting together a marketing plan; the Connecticut Trust has offered to help identify developers with the ability to complete such a project. To read the full decision, visit www.ct.gov/deep/seaside.

continued on page 13
Gardiner Hall obtained patents for a machine that printed labels on spools, a thread-tension regulator for sewing machines, and other improvements.

After Gardiner Hall’s death, the company remained under family management. Notably, Gardiner Hall’s daughter, Rosa O. Hall, served as president from 1927 to 1954, when the company closed. She continued the family tradition of paternalism—on the one hand, the company maintained roads and mowed lawns; on the other, it required that window shades be kept drawn to the same level.

South Willington grew up around the Hall company mills. The company provided housing in a variety of sizes and degrees of finish and grouped according to ranking.

Unlike the rows of identical cottages that made up many eastern Connecticut textile communities, the Hall company houses are a variety of freestanding single- or multifamily structures mostly one of a kind and generously spaced. This difference in quality may in part reflect the Hall family’s ongoing presence in the village. Their own houses traced the growing prosperity of the enterprise, from Gardiner Hall’s relatively modest Greek Revival dwelling (later expanded with an addition and two porches) to William Henry’s imposing high-style Queen Anne-Colonial Revival residence. Gardiner Hall also had a 600-acre farm with its own workforce and a large dairy barn. Other community institutions, including the schools and the Baptist church, received generous support from the Hall family.

After the Hall company closed, the housing was sold off, and the mills themselves passed through several smaller manufacturing businesses. Currently, the southern half is owned by a family trust and houses several businesses. The northern half, owned by the Buccino family, has been redeveloped as rental space known as The Mill Works with

The Hall company housing is more varied and more generously designed than much worker housing, perhaps because the company owners lived in the village.
New Listings on the National Register

The Connecticut Trust awarded the Town of Willington a Vibrant Communities Initiative preservation planning grant in 2014 for the revitalization of South Willington. Direct outcomes from that process include the National Register nomination and technical assistance from the Trust’s Making Places program to The Mill Works.

In Windsor Locks, the J. R. Montgomery Company complex is the most prominent survivor of a string of factories that lined and drew water power from the Enfield Canal (1827-29; NR). Its story epitomizes the continual innovation and adaptation that characterized successful Connecticut manufacturing concerns.

Organized in 1871, J. R. Montgomery & Company initially produced cotton yarn and thread. Over the course of the 1870s and ’80s, however, the company’s focus shifted to specialty goods such as cotton warps, tinsel thread, and novelty wefts, or filling, yarns which allowed weavers to create a variety of textures and other effects. Tinsel threads, made by wrapping narrow strips of metal foil around cotton thread, were used for decorative fabrics such as lamé as well as piping, lace, and other trims. By the late 1880s, Montgomery & Company had established itself as a pioneering developer and leading manufacturer of tinsels and novelty wefts. Notably, the firm designed and manufactured the special machinery needed to produce these products in-house, continuously adapting it to create new products and reacting to shifting fashions.

Reorganized in 1891 and 1929, the company continued to evolve. In the 1930s it produced electrical cords for electric shavers and in the 1940s it applied tinsel wiring for military needs such as communications cords and heated flying suits for airmen. After World War II the company phased out cotton products to concentrate on electronic cords and decorative items such as metallic ribbons and Christmas decorations. During this period many operations were shifted to New Hampshire, and in 1989 the Windsor Locks plant closed.

After 1989, the Montgomery complex remained vacant for many years. However, it was recently acquired by Beacon Communities, a Boston-based development company that is converting the factory to 160 mixed-income apartments. Rehab entails loft conversion of the brick-and-timber north block and the concrete south block with its Turner “mushroom” columns.

Late in 2017 the company announced that it had assembled funding for the project, which will include federal and state historic rehabilitation tax credits made possible by National Register designation, as well as tax-increment financing through the Town of Windsor Locks, a brownfield remediation loan from the Department of Economic and Community Development (DECD). The Connecticut

continued on page 12
Recognition and Reuse, cont’d from page 11

Trust is helping Beacon obtain the full value of the state historic tax credit through a loan. Construction is slated to begin in the spring, with occupancy in the summer of 2019.

The Montgomery mill was ideal for reuse because of its advantageous location: in the center of town for access to commerce and civic attractions, close to the soon-to-be-relocated Windsor Locks railroad station for easy transportation, next to the Enfield Canal for recreational opportunities, and overlooking the scenic Connecticut River.

In a press release issued in February, DECD Commissioner Catherine Smith highlighted the project’s multi-faceted nature: “This project, which encompasses transportation, housing and economic development, clearly illustrates the creative and coordinated approach the state is taking to strengthen community vibrancy.”

Governor Dannell Malloy spoke at the Montgomery mill in February.

Dramatic Turner “mushroom” columns and big windows in the concrete south block of the Montgomery mill.

We fully renovated and saved this home from bulldozers.

- National Register & Milford Historic District
- 2,500 ft²
- 5 bedrooms
- 3.5 tiled bathrooms
- 6 fireplaces
- Master suite
- Full A/C
- Exposed beams
- Original floors
- Huge yard and trees
- Perfect in-law suite & home office
- Lovely walk to the train
- On the duck pond

Who’s the right person to buy or rent this piece of history?

Please call for a TOUR or to discuss ELDER CARE AT HOME:
Lesley Mills
203.776.2273

Celebrating 35 Years of Honored Service to Elders

For live-in and hourly service:
1-800-Griswold
GriswoldHomeCare.com

Hudson Valley Preservation

Our Comprehensive Historic Preservation Services Include:
- Conditions Assessments
- Feasibility Studies
- Historic Design & Restoration
- Relocation & Stabilization
- Barn Assessment & Restoration
- Grant Writing
- House Histories
- State/National Register Nominations
- Tax Credit (RITC) Applications

860.355.0906
www.hvpcorp.com

Westport. ►
The historic district commission denied permission for a new house in the Morningside Drive local historic district in early January. The district comprises two lots, with an Italianate farmhouse on one and a small studio on the other. In the 20th century both were owned by Walter and Naiad Einsel, prominent local artists. Developer Emil Fish bought both lots in 2016 and applied for approval to build a house on the studio lot. The commission’s written decision states, in part, “The HDC finds that the basic nature of the district is that of a rural environment….The proposed new house is so large and located so close to the studio, that it overwhelms the studio and eliminates the pastoral meadow to such an extent that it would contradict the original purpose of the district and its integrity as a historic district would be lost.” Historic district commissions usually deal with alterations to existing buildings; denial of a new building is very rare, as commission chair Randy Henkels acknowledged. The developer has filed a legal appeal.
West House (c.1750-1775)
4 Middle Haddam Road, East Hampton

This single-family Cape Cod features the gable overhangs and trio of small attic windows that are characteristic of many Connecticut houses. Well preserved over the years, it retains much original fabric, including framing timbers, millwork, 2 fireplaces, and flooring. The 6-room dwelling contains 2 bedrooms and 1 full bath. Kitchen, bath and mechanicals require upgrading, but the roof, chimney and exterior sheathing are in sound condition. Situated on a half-acre corner lot with a striking stone wall and modest plantings, the property also contains a barn that is used as a single-stall garage and workshop. The house is located at the intersection of Haddam Neck and Moodus roads, in a peaceful area that has largely escaped modern development and near two state parks.

Available for purchase from the Connecticut Trust with preservation easements. Rehabilitation of the property may qualify for historic tax credits and loans.

Stillmanville Woolen Mill (1848)
75 Stillman Avenue, Pawcatuck section of Stonington

Orellus M. Stillman purchased this wool mill site along the west bank of the Pawcatuck River in 1831, and in 1848 expanded production with construction of this architecturally distinctive brick mill. It has a four-story stair tower and decorative brickwork such as denticulated beltcourses between floors and arched corbelling along the cornices. The entire eastern façade opens to the waterfront.

Redevelopment opportunity with permits in place for 15 condos in existing building and 24 units in new construction. Industrial Heritage Reuse District zoning. Environmental Site Assessment documents available. Nearly 19,000 square feet on 1.28 acres. Walking distance to commuter rail service to Boston and New York, proximity to beaches.


Contact: David Consigli, Century21 Commonwealth, 508-922-9644, dave.consigli@commonmoves.com or Jason Vincent, Director of Planning, Town of Stonington, jvincent@stonington-ct.gov

Contact: Greg Farmer, Connecticut Circuit Rider and Director, Connecticut Trust Revolving Loan Fund, (203) 562-6312, gfarmer@cttrust.org.
Hartford Apron & Towel Supply Co., (1916, c.1925, c.1950)
19 Lafayette Street, Hartford
The Hartford Apron and Towel Supply Company was purportedly the first business in the state to deliver clean linens to butchers, grocers, barbers and bartenders. Established in 1893, the firm built and occupied the Lafayette Street facility from 1916 until c.1965. It then became home to the Bell Pump Supply Company, a purveyor of HVAC systems. Additions in 1925 expanded the facility, but the most interesting architecture is the c.1950 street-side two-story addition with full-width wrap-around ribbon windows, concrete sills and lintels, multi-pane metal sash, and cantilevered metal awnings.
Public water and sewer, gas, heat, sprinklers. Redevelopment opportunity near State courthouse, office buildings and Capitol. Convenient access to I-84 and I-91.
Contact: Virginia Vinci, H. Pearce Commercial Realty, 860-721-8100, vvinci@hpearce.com

M. S. Brooks and Sons Co.
(c.1848, 1886, 1902)
33 Liberty Street, Chester
In 1848, Simeon Brooks began what became a multi-generation family business, designing and building unique machines to make screw eyes, s- and j-hooks at this site. The business continued by Simeon’s son Merritt, was incorporated by the fourth generation as M. S. Brooks and Sons Company, and continued production through the mid-20th century. The wood-frame mill on Chester Brook was built in stages, with additions in 1886 and 1902.
The town is receptive to adaptive reuse of the buildings as multifamily residential. Number of units will depend on septic system size. Approximately 21,000 square feet on 2.93 acres.
Contact: Ken Ginsberg, Wareck D’Ostilio, 203-376-6266, ken@wareck.com

Deadline for the next issue is April 20, 2018.
Historic Properties Exchange is published to advertise endangered properties in Connecticut by the Connecticut Trust for Historic Preservation, a statewide nonprofit organization located at 940 Whitney Avenue, Hamden, Connecticut 06517. Real estate advertised in this publication is subject to the Federal Housing Act of 1968.

Neither advertisers nor the Connecticut Trust are responsible or liable for any misinformation, misprints, or typographical errors contained in Historic Properties Exchange.
To list a property, learn about properties listed or to subscribe, contact Jane Montanaro, Director of Preservation Services, at jmontanaro@cttrust.org or call 203-562-6312.
Preservation Circle Donors

Chairman’s Circle
$10,000 and above
Mr. and Mrs. Peter L. Malkin
Suzanne Salomon

Chairman’s Circle
$5,000 and above
M. L. E. Foundation
Howard Gilman Foundation

Chairman’s Circle
$2,500 and above
Anderson-Paffard Foundation, Inc.
Pratt Family Fund
Jeremy and Joan Frost

Chairman’s Circle
$2,000 and above
Margaret and Peter Anderson
Richard and Ellen Gould

Chairman’s Circle
$1,500 and above
The JECM Foundation

Chairman’s Circle
$1,000 and above
Anonymous
Melanie Ginter and John Lapides
Mr. and Mrs. Richard Grant
Ed and Helen Higgins
Adrienne Farrar Houel
Mr. and Mrs. Keith L. Knowlton
Josephine Merck
Barbara Robinson
Mr. and Mrs. Peter Stockman
Summer Hill Foundation
Tom Talamini
Alease Fisher Tallman
Vance Anthony Taylor
Anne H. Van Ingen
Mr. and Mrs. John Vassallo
Marye and John Wagner

Preservation Patron
$500 and above
Benjamin M. Baker
Lynne Brickley
Robert E. Buckholz, Jr., and
Lizanne Fontaine
Jane Chesnut
J. Barclay Collins
Annette de la Renta
Dudley and Honie Diebold
Margaret McCutcheon Faber
Mimi Findlay
Peter and Lynn Friedman
Garrett and Maureen Heher
Mary-Michelle U. Hirschoff
Lee G. Kuckro
Stephen S. Lash
Marta Jo Lawrence
Mr. and Mrs. Garry Leonard
Mr. and Mrs. Vincent Marchitto
Jeffrey Morgan
Mr. and Mrs. Edward Munster
Tom and Sandy Nissley
Charles S. Rosenberg AICP
Anita M. Shaffer
Tyler Smith and Lyn Walker
John B. Toomey, Jr.
Mary Waldron
Gail Wall
Gregory Waterman and Rachel Patsson

Preservation Sponsor
$250 and above
Serena and David Bechtel
John and Christine Bensche
Mr. and Mrs. Robert Britton
Sara C. Bronin
Jay E. Cantor
Mr. and Mrs. George Castell
Frank J. Chiaramonte
Susan Clark
Michael D. Coe
Matthew Cordone
Ruth Cutler
Mr. and Mrs. Robert B. Dannies, Jr.
Andrew Drabkin and Brian Hughes
Jared and Claire Edwards
Mr. and Mrs. Michael Elgee
Theresa Goodwin
Neil and Laurie Grealy
Karsten Harries
Wes Haynes
Mr. and Mrs. John E. Herzog
Richard L. Hughes, III
Paul J. Knieirim and Gregory J. Nickett
Joan Loos
Ana Maria McGinnis
Jean and Daniel Mackay
Susan Malan and Robert Carroll Ward
Diane Mallory
Alden R. Murphy
Jeff and Maryan Muthersbaugh
John and Heidi Niblack
E. Anthony Petrilli
Debra Pond
Stephen D. Ramsey and Ann E. Jones
The Rev. Arthur B. Robertsaw, III
Jane Fearer Safer
Richard Shanahan
Caroline Sloat
Mr. and Mrs. Steven Snyder
Mr. and Mrs. Ronald G. Stackbein
Abigail A. Van Slyck and Mitchell R. Favreau
Robert Varasour and Lewis E. Burgess
Doreen H. Winokur
Mr. and Mrs. Wick York
Margaret Zellers

Heritage Partner
$100 and above
Mary Jean Agostini
Mark Aldieri
Frank E. Amadio
Robin M. Beckett
Mr. and Mrs. Drummond Bell
Anne Berlack
Mr. and Mrs. Robert C. Blake
Ralph C. Bloom
Catherine Bolduc
Virginia F. Boorom
Julia T. Bradley
Bradly Family Foundation
Gwen Bruno
Mr. and Mrs. Harold C. Buckingham, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Lawrence Caldwell
Candlewood Farm Arts Foundation
John and Athana Catlett
Hope Childs
Mr. and Mrs. James C. Cohen
Constance Clement
Andrea K. Cross
Dr. and Mrs. Garfield W. Danenhower, III
Ruth Ann Davis
Helen Dimos
Dr. Leo P. Donovan, Jr.
Ashlea Ebeling and Craig Bloom
Mr. and Mrs. Robert R. Edmiston
Robert Egleston and Elizabeth Fox
Theodore and Kristina Ellis
Mr. and Mrs. James English
Gail Erickson and Christa Rice
Dennis and Sylvia Evans
Thomas J. Farharn
Lynn Ferrari
Walter M. Fiedorowicz
Mr. and Mrs. Robert H. Finkelstein
Mr. and Mrs. Frederic L. Fischer
Lily Flanagan
Julia Ann Francis
Emil Frankel
Jack and Ann Franzen
Robert Fricker and Charlotte Rea
Leatrice F. Furano
Guy Gabrielson
John Gaddis and Toni Dorfman
Edward Gerber
Mr. and Mrs. G.S.B. Gilbert
Karyn Gilvarg and Eric Epstein
Barbara A. Glista
Laurel Goodgion
G. Kevin Gough and Paula Jones
Perley Grimes, Jr.
Heidi Groeger
Betty Hall
Robert H. Hall
Mr. and Mrs. Scott A. Hanley
John Harrington
Mr. and Mrs. Edward Havrilla
Angie Hein
Roger Herriman and Greg C. Graml
John Herzan
Laurence and Mary Hewes
Marcia Hinckley
Theodore Hine
Marjorie Hoskin
Richard Hux
Mr. and Mrs. Robert Hurd
Mary B. Hobler Hyson
Scott Jackson
Charles Janson
Kenneth Johnson
Jean R. Kelley
Erica Popick Kevrekian
Janice Kirby
Laura Knott-Twine
Michele Kramer
Bill Kraus
John J. Kriz and Angela Jameson
Karin Krochmal and Richard Hayden
Thomas Lentz
Tammy Kagan Levine
Todd Levy
Henry Lord
Catherine Lynn and Vincent Scully
Fred Lea
James B. Lyon
Susan McCall
Mr. and Mrs. Timothy MacDonald
Mark McEashern
Mr. and Mrs. Henry W. McGee, III
James and Dianne McHutchison
Cynthia Mackay
Margaret Jean McKee
Mr. and Mrs. William MacLaren
Anthony and Virginia Macro
Mrs. and Mr. Michael M. Maney
Nancy Mallory
Mr. and Mrs. Michael R. Maney
Anne B. Manning
James R. Marshall, III
Susan B. Matheson
Mr. and Mrs. Richard March...

Thank you for your support in 2017.
Local Business Partners

Chairman’s Circle
$1,000 and above

American Honda Motor Co., Inc.
Atlas Preservation Inc.
General Re Corporation
Global X
Heritage Recruiting Group, LLC.
Jeffrey E. Mutsherbaugh
Hoopes Marginhaier Rausch & Scaramoza, LLC
Svensk & Company Inc.

Preservation Patron
$500 and above

Becker and Becker Associates, Inc.
Bi-Glass Systems
Cenazo, LLC
Crosskey Architects, LLC
The Day Publishing Company
Glastonbury Restoration
Stu Grant Windows
Hudson Valley Preservation Corp.
Johnson Millwork
Robinson & Cole
Walker Solutions, Inc.
William Gould Architectural Preservation, LLC

Preservation Sponsor
$250 and above

Accounting Resources, Inc.
Architectural Components,
Christopher James
Edwin N. Cady & Sons
Capasso Inc.
Faesy-Smith Architects, PC
James K. Grant Associates
Gulick & Co., LLC
Innerglass Window Systems
Patriquin Architects
Real Estate Interest, LLC, Marc Levine
Rob Sanders Architects
Scholar Painting & Restoration
Evelyn Cole Smith Architects, LLC
West River Restoration

Heritage Partner
$100 and above

ABM Business Systems
Agricola Corporation, Gregory Farmer
Ames & Whitaker Architect
AHS, Inc.
R.J. Aley, Building Contractor, LLC
Austin Patterson Diston Architects, LLC
Paul B. Bailey Architect, LLC
John Canning & Co., Ltd.
Cirrus Structural Engineering, LLC
Congregatio Beth Israel, New Haven
Connecticut Explor
Connecticut Lighting Center, Inc.
East Guilford Construction, Inc.

Epsilon Associates, Inc.
Fish & Kent Farm
Fitzgerald & Halliday, Inc.
Michael Glynn Architects
GNQB Consulting Engineers, Inc.,
James Norden
Goman+York
Grand Light Restoration & Custom
Lighting
GSL ARCH
Heritage Resources
Housing Enterprises, David Berto
JCJ Architecture
J & R Lamb Studios, Inc.
Jones Family Farms
Kemper Associates Architects
Kramer Printing
L & R Resources, LLC
Loring & Son Masonry Restoration, Inc.
Martha Lyon Landscape Architecture, LLC
Noyes Vogt Architects, Inc., Thomas
Gribbin
Old Say New England Salvage Company
Oxford Builders, LLC
Northeast Collaborative Architects,
Raymond A. Giolitto, AIA
George Penniman Architects, LLC
Pirie Associates Architects
Proulx Building & Remodeling, LLC
The Russell Agency, LLC
Sanford and Hawley
Silver Petrucelli & Associates
Susca Roof Consulting
Leland Torrence Enterprises
Trinity College Library
Versteeg Associates, LLC
Whitneyville Food Center
Wiss, Janney, Elstner, Associates, Inc.
William C. Woods & Co., P.C.
Wycheth Anchors, LLC
Yale University, Robert B. Haas Family
Arts Library

Up to $250

American Clock & Watch Museum
Leroy Anderson Foundation
Avery Memorial Association
Avery-Copp Museum
Avon Historical Society
Ball & Socket Arts, Inc.
Town of Berlin Historic District
Commission
Bridgeport Public Library
BUSHNELL Park Foundation
Cheney Cemetery Association
Town of Cheshire, Economic
Development

Cheshire Historical Society
Church of the Good Shepherd, Hartford
Citizen’s Restoring Congamond
Colchester Historical Society
Connecticut Antique Machinery
Association
Connecticut State Library
Town of Cromwell, Planning &
Development
Darrien Historical Society
Deacon John Graft Foundation
Deep River Historical Society
Deming-Young Farm Foundation
Derby Public Library
Dudley Foundation & Farm Museum
East Haven Historical Society
East Lyme Historical Society
East Lyme Public Library
Ellington Historical Society
Charlotte E. Everts Memorial Archives, Inc.
Fairfield Conservation Commission
Fairfield Museum and History Center
Falls Village - Canaan Historical Society
First Church of Christ in Hartford
First Congregational Church of
Barkhamsted
Friends of Amblers Farm
Friends of Valley Falls
Glebe House Museum & Gertrude Jekyll
Garden
Guilford Historic District Commission
Haddam Historical Society
Hazardville Institute Conservancy Society,
Inc.
Hebron Historic Properties Commission
Hill-Stead Museum
Historic Neighborhood Preservation
Program, Inc.
Historical Society of Glastonbury
Hyland House Museum
Indian and Colonial Research Center
Lebanon Historical Society

Local Partner Organizations
$250 and above

Greenwich Preservation Trust
New Canaan Preservation Alliance

Up to $250

American Clock & Watch Museum
Leroy Anderson Foundation
Avery Memorial Association
Avery-Copp Museum
Avon Historical Society
Ball & Socket Arts, Inc.
Town of Berlin Historic District
Commission
Bridgeport Public Library
BUSHNELL Park Foundation
Cheney Cemetery Association
Town of Cheshire, Economic
Development

Cheshire Historical Society
Church of the Good Shepherd, Hartford
Citizen’s Restoring Congamond
Colchester Historical Society
Connecticut Antique Machinery
Association
Connecticut State Library
Town of Cromwell, Planning &
Development
Darrien Historical Society
Deacon John Graft Foundation
Deep River Historical Society
Deming-Young Farm Foundation
Derby Public Library
Dudley Foundation & Farm Museum
East Haven Historical Society
East Lyme Historical Society
East Lyme Public Library
Ellington Historical Society
Charlotte E. Everts Memorial Archives, Inc.
Fairfield Conservation Commission
Fairfield Museum and History Center
Falls Village - Canaan Historical Society
First Church of Christ in Hartford
First Congregational Church of
Barkhamsted
Friends of Amblers Farm
Friends of Valley Falls
Glebe House Museum & Gertrude Jekyll
Garden
Guilford Historic District Commission
Haddam Historical Society
Hazardville Institute Conservancy Society,
Inc.
Hebron Historic Properties Commission
Hill-Stead Museum
Historic Neighborhood Preservation
Program, Inc.
Historical Society of Glastonbury
Hyland House Museum
Indian and Colonial Research Center
Lebanon Historical Society

continued on page 18
Leo F. Caproni, cont’d from page 20

massing. But when clients requested it, he could use a more traditional Colonial Revival vocabulary, as for Edwards and Company in Norwalk, which in the late 1930s requested a “factory which would not look like a factory.”

Gregg Bateman, who lives in a house designed by Caproni, has identified some 200 works by the architect. These include more than forty extant industrial buildings documented in Mills: Making Places of Connecticut, such as the V. LaRosa and Sons macaroni factory in Danielson (1940). In addition, Gregg has supplied information on two industrial sites not previously captured by the survey, the Knights of Columbus printing plant in New Haven (1954) and the Follansbee Steel Corporation factory in Wallingford (1953). We will work on updating the website in the coming weeks. Thanks Gregg!

If you have questions or information for Gregg about Leo Caproni’s work, contact Renée Tribert at the Connecticut Trust.

Owning an old house is the best way to create historic preservation...

Tom Nissley 203-322-1400

tnissley@bhhsNE.com
Berkshire Hathaway HS
New England Properties
Licensed in CT  #RES.0763363

We help to:
Secure and maintain funding for the...
Community Investment Act
Work to expand...
State Historic Tax Credits
Allowing millions of dollars more to go towards supporting historic preservation projects in Connecticut.

Connecticut Trust for Historic Preservation
Revolving Loan Fund
Short-term loan financing to transform underutilized historic buildings, support economic development, and preserve community character.

Types of Loans
• Construction Loans
• Pre-Construction Loans
• Pre-Purchase Loans

Guidelines and Qualifications
www.cttrust.org

For more information
Gregory Farmer  (203) 464-7380
RLF@cttrust.org
Not only has the Making Places project made information about the state’s historic industrial resources available to the public, but it has also fostered the enthusiastic sharing of knowledge. Thanks to Connecticut Trust friend and architectural researcher Gregg Bateman, we can now document industrial buildings designed by Leo Francis Caproni (1888-1970).

Educated at Dartmouth, Caproni established his architectural firm, Caproni Associates, in New Haven in 1925 (oddly, he did not join the American Institute of Architects until 1945). Throughout his career, Caproni primarily designed industrial and commercial buildings in the New Haven area and Connecticut. His son, John D. Caproni, continued the firm into the 1970s and later.

Caproni completed commissions of new plants and additions for notable clients such as Perkin Elmer chemicals in Norwalk, Stanley Tools Division in New Britain, and Farrel-Birmingham Company (now Farrel Corporation) in Ansonia. The earliest known design is a one-story building with a curved roof built for Mackenzie Machine and Marine Works of New Haven in 1926; the latest a brick-and-corrugated-steel addition of c.1966 for the Armstrong Rubber Company in West Haven.

Many of Caproni’s works reflect a Modernist sensibility, often typified by ribbon or daylight windows and blocky...